Prevention of atherosclerosis: the role of special diets and functional foods

Vasily P. Karagodin¹, Vasily N. Sukhorukov^{2,3}, Alexander N. Orekhov^{2,3}, Shaw-Fang Yet⁴, Igor A. Sobenin⁵

¹Plekhanov Russian University of Economics, Stremyanny Pereulok 36, 117997 Moscow, Russia, ²Institute of Human Morphology, Tsyurupa str. 3, 117418, Moscow, Russia, ³Institute of General Pathology and Pathophysiology, Baltiyskaya str. 8, 125315 Moscow, Russia, ⁴Institute of Cellular and System Medicine, National Health Research Institutes, 35 Keyan Road, Zhunan Town, Miaoli County 35053, Taiwan R.O.C., ⁵Laboratory of Medical Genetics, National Medical Research Center of Cardiology, 15A 3-rd Cherepkovskaya Street, Moscow 121552, Russia

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Models to study atherosclerosis pathogenesis and progression
- 4. Nutrition and atherosclerosis
 - 4.1. Studies in cell models of atherosclerosis
 - 4.2. Traditional foods and atherosclerosis
 - 4.3. Functional food and biologically active food supplements
 - 4.4. Anti-atherosclerotic diets
- 5. Conclusions
- 6. Acknowledgement
- 7. References

1. ABSTRACT

The importance of diet for prevention of atherosclerosis is supported by numerous studies. However, to date, no rigorous method exists to assess its impact. Dietary ingredients and supplements and functional foods receive special attention as promising components in prevention of atherosclerosis. In this review, we summarize the results of recent studies that demonstrate the direct and indirect effects of functional foods and dietary components on the initiation and progression of atherosclerosis. We discuss the possible effects of different diets on the pathological mechanisms at cellular and molecular level. as well as epidemiological and clinical observations.

2. INTRODUCTION

Unhealthy eating habits have long been known as one of the important risk factors in the

development of atherosclerosis. As a diseasemodifying factor, diet accounts for the differences in the risk level and clinical manifestations of atherosclerosis in different populations. Many observations were made regarding the association of a high-calorie diet, which contains a great proportion of saturated fat and cholesterol, and the increased risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) (1). Tight links have been revealed between clinical consequences of atherosclerosis, such as ischemic heart disease or myocardial infarction, and diet-related risk factors, such as arterial hypertension, obesity, diabetes mellitus and hypercholesterolemia. Establishing this connection allowed for the development of numerous guidelines and diet recommendations that take into account the amounts of vitamins, carbohydrates, unsaturated fatty acids, antioxidants, minerals and a number of other biologically active substances in dietary products (2). However, despite the great number of publications, causal relationship between diet and the development of atherosclerosis remains has not been clearly established. Studying dosedependent effects of food is challenging because of the complexity of food composition and poor standardization of the contents of active ingredients, and because short-term intake of a certain food has little effect on specific pathological process that is being examined. The duration of consumption of nutrients is also of crucial importance for assessing the impact of certain diets on atherosclerosis. Another important problem of studies that examine the effect of diet on disease is finding the appropriate control population for comparative analysis. Therefore, our knowledge on how food impacts atherogenesis, as well as of pharmacokinetics of different active ingredients present in foods, remains limited (3).

One of the challenges in interpreting the results of anti-atherosclerotic effects of foods is shifting the focus from the effects of food on risk factors, such as hypertension, diabetes, or blood cholesterol level, to the direct effect of food on atherogenesis (4-5). In the first part of this review, we describe the concept of direct anti-atherosclerotic effects of dietary components and, the observations made, using cellular models of the disease. In the second part of the review, we summarize recent achievements in the development of functional foods (FF) and diets aimed at prevention and treatment of atherosclerosis.

3. MODELLING ATHEROSCLEROSIS PATHOGENESIS AND PROGRESSION

of Direct effect anti-atherosclerosis interventions can be defined as preventing the occurrence and progression of atherosclerotic lesions in the affected arterial wall and, ideally, inducing the regression of existing lesions (6). Currently, no known medication has such direct antiatherosclerotic effect. A typical feature of atherosclerosis is accumulation of lipids, primarily free cholesterol and cholesterol esters, in the vascular wall (7, 8). Low-density lipoprotein (LDL) is the main source of accumulating lipids (9). However, not all forms of LDL are equally important in atherogenesis. In experimental conditions, treatment

with native LDL did not lead to intracellular lipid accumulation in the cells and macrophages that reside in the arterial wall. Further analysis showed that the chemical modification of lipoprotein particles, such as desialylation or oxidation, is a necessary step for modification of lipoprotein to acquire atherogenic properties (10). Direct treatment of atherosclerosis should include prevention of the formation of atherogenic modified LDL and its accumulation in the vascular wall.

Apart from alterations of blood lipid profile, there are other factors such as inflammation are equally important for atherogenesisand atherosclerosis is currently being regarded as a chronic inflammatory condition (11). Among the atherogenic LDL modifications, desialylation is likely to be the key change, since it facilitates subsequent oxidation and self-association of LDL particles and can be observed in human blood plasma (12). While elevated LDL is a known risk factor for atherosclerosis, high-density lipoproteins (HDL) appear to have a protective role in reducing the development of atherosclerotic lesions (13).

During the recent years, development of pharmacological approaches to treat atherosclerosis has also received much attention. However, clinical application of existing anti-atherosclerotic drugs is limited due to narrow indications, associated side effects and their relatively high cost. Lifestyle modifications, and introduction of special diets, dietary supplements and FF, appear to be a promising alternative to the pharmacological treatment. Most diets and dietary supplements are characterized by an affordable price and little or no known side effects, which allows their long-term, or even lifelong use. At the same time, diets may prove effective for prevention and alleviation of atherosclerosis (14-15).

Development of special antiatherosclerosis diets is complicated by the lack of a solid research approach. Tests based on cultured cells may be helpful for preliminary screening and rough assessment of anti-atherogenic potential of different food components. Our group has developed a number of cell-based tests (16-17). These models include:

- Aortic intima cell model. This model is used for assessing cholesterol accumulation, cholesterol efflux and cytokine production;
- Cellular model. This model is used based on human monocyte-derived macrophages to assess the accumulation and efflux of cholesterol;
- 3. Enzymatic model. This model is used for determining sialidase activity and searching for agents that prevent atherogenic modification of LDL.

A series of *in vitro* and *ex vivo* experiments using these models aimed to investigate the influence of different food components on the following processes:

- 1. Cellular cholesterol accumulation and efflux
- 2. Expression of inflammatory cytokines (HLA-DR, ICAM-1, IL-1 and TNF- α)
- 3. Changes of blood sialidase activity

This work resulted in identification of antiatherosclerotic and atherogenic effects of different medicinal plants and food components. The *ex vivo* model has allowed measuring atherogenic factors in the blood plasma of volunteers who consumed the tested foods. In particular, evaluation of the effects of 14 plants in these experiments revealed that consumption of licorice root prevented atherogenic modification of LDL (17). The possible components of licorice that may convey this effect are flavonoids and triterpenic saponins.

Cellular model based on monocyte-derived macrophages was used to study the effect of 8 dietary and medicinal plants on the removal of excess cholesterol from the vascular wall. Onion (*Allium cepa*) powder was shown to be a very effective antiatherosclerotic component that promoted decreasing of cholesterol content in lipid-loaded cells (17). The effect of onion is considered to be due to the biological activity of flavonoids, saponins, allicin and ascorbic acid present in onion. Macrophages are capable of sensing lipids through liver X receptors (LXRs), oxysterol-activated nuclear receptors, and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) that can respond to oxidized fatty acids and their derivatives. Ligands of LXRs and PPARs have pronounced protective effects against atherosclerosis through inhibition of the inflammatory response and intracellular lipid accumulation in the arterial wall (18). Some of the well-known components of edible plants, such as dehydroabietic acid (18-20) or methyl oleanonate (21) can have antiinflammatory and anti-atherosclerotic effects through interaction with PPAR lipid sensor (22). Capsaicin, the pungent component of chili pepper, was demonstrated to have pronounced anti-inflammatory effect when applied to cultured macrophages (23). Moreover, capsaicin inhibited macrophage migration and release of pro-inflammatory cytokine. Another example of food-derived biologically active agent with potential anti-atherosclerosis properties is auraptene, a monoterpene contained in the peel of citrus fruits, which was identified as a PPAR agonist (24, 25).

A positive correlation between the accumulation of intracellular lipids and the expression of inflammatory molecules including HLA-DR, TNF- α and IL-1 was established in the experiments conducted on primary cultures of intimal aortic cells. These experiments revealed the anticytokine (anti-inflammatory) properties of different foods (17). Likewise, in vitro and ex vivo models were used for studying the potential anti-inflammatory activity of 31 plants. As a result, several medicinal plants were identified as especially promising for prevention of atherosclerosis, including calendula (Calendula officinalis), violet (Viola tricolor) and black elder berries (Sambucus nigra) (17). The antiinflammatory effect achieved by the combination of these plants was as high as 88% of that of diclofenac, one of the most potent non-steroid anti-inflammatory drugs. The active ingredients of these plants that convey anti-inflammatory properties may include carotenoids, flavonoids, saponins, phytosterols, flavon glycoside violacvercetin and anthocyanin glycosides (delphinidin, peonidin, violin). In addition to the above listed plants, most of which are used as dietary components, inhibition of atherogenesis was has also been demonstrated for grape seed, hop, garlic and green tea (17). Therefore, enzymatic and cellular models that allow mimicking the key processes of atherogenesis were useful for identifying food components that potentially have

Preventive measures for atherosclerosis

direct anti-atherosclerotic effects. It is possible that similar methodological approach can be used to detect the effects of food substances with a more complex composition.

4. NUTRITION AND ATHEROSCLEROSIS

The relationship between food intake and atherosclerosis has been explored in numerous studies with different designs. These studies considered the effects of both whole foods (processed and unprocessed) and their individual ingredients, as well as dietary supplements, functional nutritional products and various therapeutic and prophylactic diets. In most studies, molecular and cellular mechanisms of biological activity of food components remained beyond the research scope. Instead, the authors focused on the impact of different foods on known risk factors and metabolic status of study subjects.

4.1. Studies in cell models of atherosclerosis

In a recent study, anti-atherosclerotic effects of biologically active agents were evaluated using a cell model based on macrophages, an approach that is methodologically similar to that of the in vitro models described above (26). A combination of three biologically active agents (phytosterols, omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids, and flavanols) inhibited the formation of foam cells, recruitment and pro-inflammatory monocvte polarization of macrophages. The observed effects potential anti-atherosclerotic included activity relevant to the different stages of the disease (Author: Place reference). In particular, pro-inflammatory polarization of macrophages is known to be associated with atherosclerosis. Suppression of this process may have a therapeutic value for prevention and treatment of atherosclerosis. Other effects of the herbal preparation has included the increase of apoA-I-mediated efflux of cholesterol from foam cells, which was independent from the presence of phytosterols in the tested mixture and suppression of the expression of two anti-atherogenic genes (Author: Place reference). The authors highlighted the absence of antagonistic or synergistic interactions between the individual components of the formulation and concluded that further research of this mixture, including experiments on an *in vivo* model, is required to show the clinical usefullness of the findings.

The abovementioned phytosterols that promote the reduction of blood serum LDL were also found promising for prevention of atherogenesis (27). For instance, it was demonstrated that these inhibit the inflammatory processes. Experiments on macrophages demonstrated that desmosterol, an intermediate product in cholesterol synthesis, could reduce lipid accumulation and inflammatory response in cultured cells through regulation of inflammatory genes (28). Sitosterol and campesterol were also shown to influence the production of inflammatory factors by macrophages (29-31). Phytosterols exert anti-inflammatory effects not only on macrophages, but also in T-lymphocytes (32).

4.2. Traditional foods and atherosclerosis

Among the traditional foods, several components were shown to have anti-atherosclerotic effects (Table 1). Tomatoes, that are rich in lycopene, are often mentioned among the healthy food categories. The protective effect of lycopene was demonstrated to be dose-dependent (33). Data from clinical studies that assess the beneficial effects of tomatoes and tomato products on body weight, blood pressure, blood glucose level, lipid metabolism, and endothelial function, as well as their antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties, have been discussed in a recent review (34). However, several studies failed to confirm the antiplatelet effect of tomatoes. Moreover, the anti-atherosclerotic effects of tomatoes appear to depend on the culinary method of their processing (35), and the usefulness of tomato-based diet remains to be demonstrated.

Fish, which contains high levels of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) with potential anti-atherosclerotic properties. However, the original population-based study conducted over a period of 7 years did not support the hypothesis that high consumption of fish is beneficial for prevention of atherosclerosis (36). Intake of fatty fish or fish oil dietary supplements had no impact on the formation of atherosclerotic plaques visible on ultrasound

Dietary component	Effects	Possible active ingredient	Reference
Tomatoes	Antioxidant Alleviate endothelial dysfunction Anti-inflammatory Normalization of blood pressure, blood glucose and lipids levels and metabolism	Lycopene	(33, 34)
Fish and seafood	No proven anti-atherosclerotic effect, but may be beneficial for atherosclerosis prevention	PUFA and other unknown components	(37, 38)
Cranberry	Antioxidant Alleviate endothelial dysfunction Anti-inflammatory Normalization of blood pressure and glucose level	Polyphenols, isoprenoids and other components	(41)
Cornel	Antioxidant Anti-inflammatory Antiplatelet Normalization of lipid-carbohydrate metabolism	Polyphenols	(42)
Olive oil	Antioxidant Alleviate endothelial dysfunction Anti-inflammatory Antithrombotic	Polyphenols, tocopherols and PUFA	(43)
PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids			

Table 1. Common dietary components that have potential anti-atherosclerosis activity

examination of carotid arteries. At the same time, consumption of lean fish reduced the likelihood of plaque development, which, according to the authors, indicates the existence of antiatherosclerotic mechanisms independent from PUFA. These may be attributed to other components of fish, such as peptides and amino acids, including taurine and glycine (37, 38). In addition, the beneficial activity of PUFA may decrease during thermal processing of fish (39, 40).

One recent study has evaluated the potential anti-atherosclerotic effects of another dietary product, cranberry (41). In particular, the effects of cranberry on cellular (cardiometabolic) processes associated with atherosclerosis, were assessed. The authors evaluated the effect of cranberry consumption on the inflammatory and oxidative stress, blood pressure, endothelial function, regulation of blood glucose level, and a variety of biomarkers. The observed effects, were attributed mostly, to polyphenols that are present in berries. The observations were confirmed by a series of *in vitro* experiments, as well as in animal models. Moreover, the involvement of gut microbiota in the described effects was considered. The results pointed to the existence of certain synergy of polyphenols with cranberry phenolic acids, isoprenoids, oligosaccharides, and some other compounds. The proper interpretation of the obtained results was hindered by the differences in the marketed forms of cranberry products (juices, extracts or dried berries), the differences in doses used and the characteristics of the populations that were included in such studies.

Another recently published study described the anti-atherosclerotic activity of cornel (Cornelian cherry) (42). In this case, polyphenols were again considered as the possible active ingredients that convey the effect. The work revealed a pronounced effect of cornel on lipidcarbohydrate metabolism, platelet activity, total cholesterol, plasma LDL, and markers of inflammation and oxidative stress, as compared to statins. However, proper evaluation of the effects was hindered by the lack of standardization of dosages and duration of the food intake.

Molecular and cellular effects of polyphenols, tocopherols and PUFAs contained in olive oil have been described in a recent review (43).

The most important effect attributeed to this dietary product appears to be the prevention of the oxidative stress-induced endothelial dysfunction. It appeared that olive oil components have a potent capability of attenuating oxidative stress and improving the endothelial function through their anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, and anti-thrombotic properties. These effects, in turn, can reduce the risk and alleviate the progression of atherosclerosis. However, the authors also pointed out that oxidative stress could not be considered as the principal cause of atherosclerosis (44).

4.3. Functional food and biologically active food supplements

The concept of "functional food" has been evolving since early 1980s, and the definition of the relevant product categories has undergone repeated changes. One of the latest definitions of functional food (FF) is "functional food" as natural or processed. foods that contains known or unknown biologicallyactive compounds; the foods, in. defined, effective, and non-toxic amounts, provide a clinically proven and documented health benefit for the prevention, management, or treatment of a chronic disease" (45). Thus, FF can be either natural or processed, that is, specially designed, such as a folate-fortified cereal or vitamin C-enriched milk. Moreover, in some countries, the definition of FF also includes dietary supplements in the form of pills and capsules. Methods of designed FF production have been described in detail elsewhere (46).

Interestingly, the effects of nutritionally engineered foods on atherosclerosis appear to be less studied that those of natural foods (47). A recent review has questioned the feasibility of introducing phytosterols in the composition of dietary products to combat hypercholesterinoma, which is confirmed not only by animal studies, but also in clinical trials (48). Moreover, it was reported that studies in humans have failed to demonstrate the link between the consumption of phytosterol-enriched FF and vessel function (49). It has been suggested that consumption of polyphenol-containing FFs can be beneficial for patients with a high blood cholesterol level but who are at low risk for cardiovascular complications that do not need pharmacotherapy. FF

used supplement to can also be as а pharmacotherapy in patients that have increased risk of atherosclerosis. Consumption of chicken egg yolk conjugated with linoleic acid by laboratory animals led to reduction of blood cholesterol and had antiinflammatory and anti-atherogenic effects. As a result, this FF had beneficial effects on the composition of cholesterol-containing plaques (50). Extracts of *Mallotus furetianus* leaves consumed by rats for a period of 9 week showed a similar effect on blood lipid profile, histological features and the thickness of the intima-media s (51).

Various dietary supplements are often considered as FFs and used to achieve certain beneficial effects on health. However, relatively little experimental data are available on the effects of dietary supplements on atherosclerosis. One of the most detailed studies of anti-atherosclerotic effects of FFs has been provided for the garlic-based dietary supplement, registered under the name of Allicor (52). It has been suggested that that this FF exerts direct effect at the level of the vascular wall as well as indirect effects on atherosclerosis risk factors. . A 2-year study (The Atherosclerosis Monitoring and Atherogenic Reduction Study) and a series of double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trials have shown reliable clinical efficacy of Allikor for prevention of atherosclerosis. Other dietary supplements with similar composition including Inflaminat and Karinat have shownto inhibit lipid accumulation in the vascular wall (53).

4.4. Anti-atherosclerotic diets

effects of special The diets on atherosclerosis have been known for a long time (54). Studies evaluating the impact of different diets on cardiovascular risk factors usually focus on the individual dietary components. contents of However, the mechanisms of action of food components remain largely unclear, although it is often suggested that these mechanisms involve anti-inflammatory effects of biological substances, such as antioxidants and polyphenols. For example, the Mediterranean diet has been documents by clinical trials (55, 56). Nevertheless, it remains unclear whether this diet can have protective role in all human populations (57).

Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension is a diet that has been developed to reduce one of the risk factors of atherosclerosis (58). In addition, the diet reduced total cholesterol and LDL levels, homocysteine and inflammatory markers (59-61). Other cardioprotective diets include Portfolio Diet (62), Vegetarian Diet and Okinawa Diet (63). Their indirect effects on atherogenesis is associated with a decrease in the blood level of C-reactive protein (an inflammatory marker) (64) and cholesterol, as well as decrease of blood pressure and reduction of obesity (62).

5. CONCLUSIONS

The effects of nutritional factors on cardiovascular diseases, including atherosclerosis, have attracted much attention during the last 50 years. Some dietary components, such as plant products, fish, or seafoods appear to be promising. In particular, the Mediterranean diet has shown good results in controlled settings. However, most of the data available so far are related to reducing the risk factors of atherosclerosis, but not to directly inhibit cellular processes of atherogenesis. The development of cellular models have facilitated screening of food components for their beneficial properties, such as an anti-inflammatory activity. However, many questions remain open about the mechanisms of the observed effects and their dependence on the dose and duration of exposure.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This work was supported by the Russian Science Foundation (#19-15-00010).

7. REFERENCES

- E.M. Alissa, G.A. Ferns, Functional foods and nutraceuticals in the primary prevention of cardiovascular diseases. J Nutr Metab 2012:569486 (2012) DOI: 10.1155/2012/569486
- K. He, A. Merchant, E.B. Rimm, B.A. Rosner, M.J. Stampfer, W.C. Willett, A. Ascherio, Dietary fat intake and risk of

stroke in male US healthcare professionals: 14 year prospective cohort study. BMJ 327:777-782 (2003) DOI: 10.1136/bmj.327.7418.777

- K. Srinath Reddy, M.B. Katan, Diet, nutrition and the prevention of hypertension and cardiovascular diseases. Public Health Nutr 7:167-186 (2004) DOI: 10.1079/PHN2003587
- A.N. Orekhov, E.A. Ivanova, Introduction to the special issue "Atherosclerosis and Related Diseases". Vessel Plus 1:163-165 (2017) DOI: 10.20517/2574-1209.2017.33
- 5. V.V. Sinvov, M.A. Sazonova, A.I. Ryzhkova, E.V. Galitsyna, A.A. A.N. Melnichenko. A.Y. Postnov, Orekhov, A.V. Grechko, I.A. Sobenin, Potential use of buccal epithelium for genetic diagnosis of atherosclerosis using mtDNA mutations. Vessel Plus 1:145-150 (2017) DOI: 10.20517/2574-1209.2016.04
- V.I. Alipov, V.N. Sukhorukov, V.P. Karagodin, A.V. Grechko, A.N. Orekhov, Chemical composition of circulating native and desialylated low density lipoprotein: what is the difference? Vessel Plus 1:107-115 (2017) DOI: 10.20517/2574-1209.2017.20
- 7. P. Libby, Inflammation and cardiovascular disease mechanisms. Am J Clin Nutr 83:456S-460S (2006) DOI: 10.1093/ajcn/83.2.456S
- I. Tabas, Macrophage death and defective inflammation resolution in atherosclerosis. Nat Rev Immunol 10:36-46 (2010) DOI: 10.1038/nri2675

- M. Harangi, A. Szentpéteri, B. Nádró, H. Lőrincz, I. Seres, D. Páll, G. Paragh, HDL subfraction distribution and HDL function in untreated dyslipidemic patients. Vessel Plus 1:166-173 (2017) DOI: 10.20517/2574-1209.2017.27
- V.V. Tertov, V.V. Kaplun, I.A. Sobenin, E.Y. Boytsova, N.V. Bovin, A.N. Orekhov, Human plasma trans-sialidase causes atherogenic modification of low density lipoprotein. Atherosclerosis 159:103-115 (2001) DOI: 10.1016/S0021-9150(01)00498-1
- N.G. Nikiforov, K.O. Galstyan, L.V. Nedosugova, N.V. Elizova, K.I. Kolmychkova, E.A. Ivanova, Proinflammatory monocyte polarization in type 2 diabetes mellitus and coronary heart disease. Vessel Plus 1:192-195 (2017) DOI: 10.20517/2574-1209.2017.21
- 12. A.N. Orekhov, V.V. Tertov, D.N. Mukhin, Desialylated low density lipoprotein-naturally occurring modified lipoprotein with atherogenic potency. Atherosclerosis 86:153-161 (1991) DOI: 10.1016/0021-9150(91)90211-K
- C. Weber, A. Zernecke, P. Libby, The multifaceted contributions of leukocyte subsets to atherosclerosis: lessons from mouse models. Nat Rev Immunol 8:802-815 (2008) DOI: 10.1038/nri2415
- T.V. Kirichenko, V.A. Myasoedova, I.A. Sobenin, A.N. Orekhov, Phytotherapy for the prevention of atherosclerosisassociated early cerebral ischemia. Curr Drug Metab 19:408-413 (2018) DOI: 10.2174/1389200219666180305-151601

- A.N. Orekhov, E.A. Ivanova, Editorial: Conventional, traditional and alternative therapies for cardiovascular disorders. Part 3: Alternative therapy. Curr Pharm Des 23:1133-1134 (2017) DOI: 10.2174/138161282399917-0202115308
- T.V. Gorchakova, I.V. Suprun, I.A. Sobenin, A.N. Orekhov, Use of natural products in anticytokine therapy. Bull Exp Biol Med 143:316-319 (2007) DOI: 10.1007/s10517-007-0099-6
- A.N. Orekhov, A.V. Grechko, E.B. Romanenko, D. Zhang, D.A. Chistiakov, Novel approaches to anti-atherosclerotic therapy: Cell-based models and herbal preparations (Review of our own data). Curr Drug Discov Technol [Epub ahead of print] (2019) DOI: 10.2174/157016381666619010-1112241
- K.J. Moore, E.D. Rosen, M.L. Fitzgerald, F. Randow, L.P. Anderson, D. Altshuler, D.S. Milstone, R.M. Mortensen, B.M. Spiegelman, M.W. Freeman, The role of PPAR-gamma in macrophage differentiation and cholesterol uptake. Nat Med 7:41-47 (2001) DOI: 10.1038/83328
- M.S. Kang, S. Hirai, T. Goto, K. Kuroyanagi, J.Y. Lee, T. Uemura, Y. Ezaki, N. Takahashi, T. Kawada, Dehydroabietic acid, a phytochemical, acts as ligand for PPARs in macrophages and adipocytes to regulate inflammation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 369:333-338 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.02.002
- 20. M.S. Kang, S. Hirai, T. Goto, K. Kuroyanagi, Y.I. Kim, K. Ohyama, T. Uemura, J.Y. Lee, T. Sakamoto, Y. Ezaki,

R. Yu, N. Takahashi, T. Kawada, Dehydroabietic acid, a diterpene, improves diabetes and hyperlipidemia in obese diabetic KK-Ay mice. Biofactors 35:442-448 (2009) DOI: 10.1002/biof.58

- 21. R.K. Petersen, K.B. Christensen, A.N. Fretté, V.P. Assimopoulou, Х. Papageorgiou, Κ. Kristiansen, Ι. Kouskoumvekaki, Pharmacophoredriven identification of PPARy agonists from natural sources. J Comput Aided Mol Des 25:107-116 (2011) DOI: 10.1007/s10822-010-9398-5
- H. Yokoi, H. Mizukami, A. Nagatsu, T. Ohno, H. Tanabe, M. Inoue, Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma ligands isolated from adlay seed (Coix lacryma-jobi L. var. ma-yuen STAPF.). Biol Pharm Bull 32:735-740 (2009) DOI: 10.1248/bpb.32.735
- C.S. Kim, T. Kawada, B.S. Kim, I.S. Han, S.Y. Choe, T. Kurata, R. Yu, Capsaicin exhibits anti-inflammatory property by inhibiting IkB-a degradation in LPSstimulated peritoneal macrophages. Cell Signal 15:299-603 (2003) DOI: 10.1016/S0898-6568(02)00086-4
- 24. K. Kuroyanagi, M.S. Kang, T. Goto, S. Hirai, K. Ohyama, T. Kusudo, R. Yu, M. Yano, T. Sasaki, N. Takahashi, T. Kawada, Citrus auraptene acts as an agonist for PPARs and enhances adiponectin production and MCP-1 reduction in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 366:219-225 (2008)

DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.11.119

N. Takahashi, M.S. Kang, K. Kuroyanagi,
 T. Goto, S. Hirai, K. Ohyama, J.Y. Lee, R.
 Yu, M. Yano, T. Sasaki, S. Murakami, T.

Kawada, Auraptene, a citrus fruit compound, regulates gene expression as a PPARalpha agonist in HepG2 hepatocytes. Biofactors 33:25-32 (2008) DOI: 10.1002/biof.5520330103

- J.W.E. Moss, T.S. Davies, I. Garaiova, S.F. Plummer, D.R. Michael, D.P. Ramji, A Unique Combination of Nutritionally Active Ingredients Can Prevent Several Key Processes Associated with Atherosclerosis In vitro. PLoS One 11:e0151057-e0151057 (2016) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0151057
- R. Estruch, M.A. Martinez-Gonzalez, D. Corella, J. Salas-Salvado, V. Ruiz-Gutierrez, M.I. Covas, M. Fiol, E. Gomez-Garcia, M.C. Lopez-Sabater, E. Vinyoles, F. Aros, M. Conde, C. Lahoz, J. Lapetra, G. Saez, E. Ros, PREDIMED Study Investigators, Effects of a Mediterranianstyle diet on cardiovascular risk factors: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 145:1-11 (2006)
- 28. N.J. Spann. L.X. Garmire. J.G. McDonald, D.S. Myers, S.B. Milne, N. Shibata, D. Reichart, J.N. Fox, I. Shaked, D. Heudobler, C.R. Raetz, E.W. Wang, S.L. Kelly, M.C. Sullards, R.C. Murphy, A.H. Merrill, H.A. Brown, E.A. Dennis, A.C. Li, K. Ley, S. Tsimikas, E. Fahy, S. Subramaniam, O. Quenhenberger, D.W. Russell, C.K. Glass, Regulated accumulation of desmosterol integrates macrophage lipid metabolism and inflammatory responses. Cell 151:138-152 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.06.054
- 29. Y. Ding, H.T. Nguyen, S.I. Kim, H.W. Kim, Y.H. Kim, The regulation of inflammatory cytokine secretion in macrophage cell line by the chemical constituents of Rhus

Sylvestris. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 19:3607-3610 (2009) DOI: 10.1016/j.bmcl.2009.04.129

- L. Alappat, M. Valerio, A.B. Awad, Effect of vitamin D and β-sitosterol on immune function of macrophages. Int Immunopharmacol 10:1390-1396 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.intimp.2010.08.003
- M. Kurano, N. Iso-O, M. Hara, E. Noiri, K. Koike, T. Kadowaki, K. Tsukamoto, Plant sterols increased IL-6 and TNF-α secretion from macrophages, but to a lesser extent than cholesterol. J Atheroscler Thromb 18:373-383 (2011) DOI: 10.5551/jat.6999
- F. Brüll, R.P. Mensink, K. van den Hurk, A. Duijvestijn, J. Plat, TLR2 activation is essential to induce a Th1 shift in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells by plant stanols and plant sterols. J Biol Chem 285:2951-2958 (2010) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M109.036343
- A. Mordente, B. Guantario, E. Meucci, A. Silvestrini, E. Lombardi, G.E. Martorana, B. Giardina, V. Bohm, Lycopene and cardiovascular diseases: an update. Curr Med Chem 18:1146-1163 (2011) DOI: 10.2174/092986711795029717
- H. Yanai, H. Adachi, A. Kawaguchi, M. Hakoshima, Y. Waragai, T. Harigae, Y. Masui, K. Kakuta, H. Hamasaki, H. Katsuyama, A. Sako, The antiatherosclerotic effects of tomatoes. Funct Foods Heal Dis 7:411-428 (2017)
- P. Valderas-Martinez, C. Chiva-Blanch, R. Casas, S. Arranz, M. Martínez-Huélamo, M. Urpi-Sarda, X. Torrado, D. Corella, R.M. Lamuela-Raventós, R. Estruch, Tomato sauce enriched with olive oil exerts greater effects on

cardiovascular disease risk factors than raw tomato and tomato sauce: A randomized trial. Nutrients 8:170 (2016) DOI: 10.3390/nu8030170

- S.H. Johnsen, B.K. Jacobsen, S.K. Brækkan, J.-B. Hansen, E.B. Mathiesen, Fish consumption, fish oil supplements and risk of atherosclerosis in the Tromsø study. Nutr J 17:56 (2018) DOI: 10.1186/s12937-018-0364-8
- I.-J. Jensen, M. Walquist, B. Liaset, E.O. Elvevoll, K.-E. Eilertsen, Dietary intake of cod and scallop reduces atherosclerotic burden in female apolipoprotein Edeficient mice fed a Western-type high fat diet for 13 weeks. Nutr Metab (Lond) 13:8 (2016) DOI: 10.1186/s12986-016-0068-z
- C. Torris, M. Molin, M.C. Cvancarova, Lean fish consumption is associated with lower risk of metabolic syndrome: a Norwegian cross sectional study. BMC Public Health 16:347 (2016) DOI: 10.1186/s12889-016-3014-0
- M. Candela, I. Astiasarán, J. Bello, Deepfat frying modifies high-fat fish lipid fraction. J Agric Food Chem 46:2793-2796 (1998) DOI: 10.1021/jf9709616
- 40. D. Mozaffarian, R.N. Lemaitre, L.H. Kuller, G.L. Burke, R.P. Tracy, D.S. Siscovick, Cardiac benefits of fish consumption may depend on the type of fish meal consumed: the Cardiovascular Health Study. Circulation 107:1372-1377 (2003) DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000055315.79177.16
- 41. J.B. Blumberg, A. Basu, C.G. Krueger, M.A. Lila, C.C. Neto, J.A. Novotny, J.D.

Reed, A. Rodriguez-Mateos, C.D. Toner, Impact of cranberries on gut microbiota and cardiometabolic health: Proceedings of the cranberry health research conference 2015. Adv Nutr 7:759S-770S (2016) DOI: 10.3945/an.116.012583

- 42. J. Lietava, N. Beerova, S.V. Klymenko, E. Panghyova, I. Varga, O. Pechanova, Effects of cornelian cherry on atherosclerosis and its risk factors. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2019:2515270 (2019) DOI: 10.1155/2019/2515270
- V. Summerhill, V. Karagodin, A. Grechko, V. Myasoedova, A. Orekhov, Vasculoprotective role of olive oil compounds via modulation of oxidative stress in atherosclerosis. Front Cardiovasc Med 5:188 (2018) DOI: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00188
- A.N. Orekhov, E.A. Ivanova, A.A. Melnichenko, I.A. Sobenin, Circulating desialylated low density lipoprotein. Cor Vasa 59:e149-e156 (2017)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.crvasa.2016.10.003
- 45. D.M. Martirosyan, J. Singh, A new definition of functional food by FFC: what makes a new definition unique? Funct Foods Heal Dis 5:209-223 (2015)
- J. Smith, E. Charter, F. Shahidi, Functional food product development. Blackwell Publishing Ltd (2010) DOI: 10.1002/9781444323351
- S. Gyorgy, From techno-corporate food to alternative agri-food movements". Local Glob 4:112-140 (2007)
- 48. J. Kohler, D. Teupser, A. Elsasser, O. Weingartner, Plant sterol enriched functional food and atherosclerosis. Br J

Pharmacol 174:1281-1289 (2017) DOI: 10.1111/bph.13764

H. Gylling, J. Plat, S. Turley, H.N. 49. Ginsberg, L. Ellegard, W. Jessup, P.J. Jones, D. Lutjohann, W. Maerz, L. Masana, G. Silbernagel, B. Staels, J. Boren, A.L. Catapano, G. De Backer, J. Deanfield, O.S. Descamps, P.T. Kovanen, G. Riccardi, L. Tokgozoglu, M.J. Chapman, European Atherosclerosis Society Consensus Panel on Phytosterols, Plant sterols and plant stanols in the management of dyslipidaemia and prevention of cardiovascular disease. Atherosclerosis 232:346-360 (2014)DOI: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2013.-

11.043

50. M. Franczyk-Zarow, R.B. Kostogrys, B. Szymczyk, J. Jawien, M. Gajda, T. Cichocki, L. Wojnar, S. Chlopicki, P.M. Pisulewski, Functional effects of eggs, naturally enriched with conjugated linoleic acid, on the blood lipid profile, development of atherosclerosis and composition of atherosclerotic plaque in apolipoprotein Е and low-density lipoprotein receptor double-knockout mice (apoE/LDLR-/-) Br J Nutr 99:49-58 (2008)

DOI: 10.1017/S0007114507793893

- L. Yueli, W. Liqun, W. Haitao, L. Lianbo, Y. Xinan, Comparison of antiatherosclerotic effects of two different extracts from leaves of Mallotus furetianus. Asian Pac J Trop Med 4:878-882 (2011) DOI: 10.1016/S1995-7645(11)60212-5
- 52. V.P. Karagodin, I.A. Sobenin, A.N. Orekhov, Antiatherosclerotic and Cardioprotective Effects of Time-

Released Garlic Powder Pills. Curr Pharm Des 22:196-213 (2016) DOI: 10.2174/1381612822666151-112153351

- A.N. Orekhov, Anti-atherosclerotic Drugs from Natural Products. Nat Prod Chem Res 1 (2013) DOI: 10.4172/2329-6836.1000121
- D. Ornish, L.W. Scherwitz, J.H. Billings, S.E. Brown, K.L. Gould, T.A. Merritt, S. Sparler, W.T. Armstrong, T.A. Ports, R.L. Kirkeeide, C. Hogeboom, R.J. Brand, Intensive lifestyle changes for reversal of coronary heart disease. JAMA 280:2001-2007 (1998)
- C.L. Huang, B.E. Sumpio, Olive oil, the Mediterranean diet, and cardiovascular health. J Am Coll Surg 207:407-416 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2008.02.018
- K. Esposito, M. Ciotola, D. Giugliano, Mediterranean diet, endothelial function and vascular inflammatory markers. Public Health Nutr 9:1073-1076 (2006) DOI: 10.1017/S1368980007668529
- M. de Lorgeril, P. Salen, J.L. Martin, I. Monjaud, J. Delaye, N. Mamelle, Mediterranean diet, traditional risk factors, and the rate of cardiovascular complications after myocardial infarction: final report of the Lyon Diet Heart Study. Circulation 99:779-785 (1999) DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.99.6.779
- T.J. Moore, P.R. Conlin, J. Ard, L.P. Svetkey, DASH (Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension) diet is effective treatment for stage 1 isolated systolic hypertension. Hypertens (Dallas, Tex 1979) 38:155-158 (2001) DOI: 10.1161/01.HYP.38.2.155

- 59. T.T. Fung, S.E. Chiuve, M.L. McCullough, K.M. Rexrode, G. Logroscino, F.B. Hu, Adherence to a DASH-style diet and risk of coronary heart disease and stroke in women. Arch Intern Med 168:713-720 (2008) DOI: 10.1001/archinte.168.7.713
- E. Obarzanek, F.M. Sacks, W.M. Vollmer, G.A. Bray, E.R. Miller, P.H. Lin, N.M. Karanja, M.M. Most-Windhauser, T.J. Moore, J.F. Swain, C.W. Bales, M.A. Proschan, Effects on blood lipids of a blood pressure-lowering diet: the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) Trial. Am J Clin Nutr 74:80-89 (2001) DOI: 10.1093/ajcn/74.1.80
- L.J. Appel, E.R. Miller, S.H. Jee, R. Stolzenberg-Solomon, P.H. Lin, T. Erlinger, M.R. Nadeau, J. Selhub, Effect of dietary patterns on serum homocysteine: results of a randomized, controlled feeding study. Circulation 102:852-857 (2000) DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.102.8.852
- D.J.A. Jenkins, C.W.C. Kendall, D. Faulkner, E. Vidgen, E.A. Trautwein, T.L. Parker, A. Marchie, G. Koumbridis, K.G. Lapsley, R.G. Josse, L.A. Leiter, P.W. Connelly, A dietary portfolio approach to cholesterol reduction: Combined effects of plant sterols, vegetable proteins, and viscous fibers in hypercholesterolemia. Metabolism 51:1596-1604 (2002) DOI: 10.1053/meta.2002.35578
- B.J. Willcox, D.C. Willcox, H. Todoriki, A. Fujiyoshi, K. Yano, Q. He, J.D. Curb, M. Suzuki, Caloric restriction, the traditional okinawan diet, and healthy aging: The diet of the world's longest-lived people and its potential impact on morbidity and

life span. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1114:434-455 (2007) DOI: 10.1196/annals.1396.037

 P.M. Ridker, C.H. Hennekens, J.E. Buring, N. Rifai, C-Reactive Protein and Other Markers of Inflammation in the Prediction of Cardiovascular Disease in Women. N Engl J Med 342:836-843 (2002) DOI: 10.1056/NEJM200003233421202

Abbreviations: FF: functional food, CVD: cardiovascular disease, LDL: low-density lipoproteins, HDL: high-density lipoproteins, PUFAs: omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids

Key Words: Functional foods, Atherosclerosis, Dietary supplements, Review

Send correspondence to: Vasily Karagodin, Plekhanov Russian University of Economics, Stremyanny Pereulok, 36, 117997 Moscow, Russia, Tel: 74956053551, Fax: 79031690866, E-mail: vpka@mail.ru